FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 8/14/2023 3:21 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/15/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court Case No. <u>102266-2</u> (Court of Appeals Case No. <u>38907-3-III</u>)

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FRANKLIN COUNTY,

Appellant,

V.

FUTUREWISE,

Respondent,

and

CITY OF PASCO, and PORT OF PASCO,

Appellants.

FUTUREWISE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Tim Trohimovich, WSBA No. 22367 Futurewise 816 Second Ave. Ste. 200 Seattle, Washington, 98104 (206) 343-0681/ Mobile 206-853-6077 Email: <u>tim@futurewise.org</u> Attorney for Futurewise

I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

The Petitioner is Futurewise, a Washington State nonprofit corporation. Futurewise was a petitioner before the Growth Management Hearings Board (Board) and a respondent before the Court of Appeals (COA).

II. CITATION TO THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Petitioner seeks review of the following unpublished Court of Appeals decision: *Franklin County, City of Pasco, and Port of Pasco v. Futurewise*, Case No. 38907-3-III filed July 13, 2023, hereinafter Opinion. A copy of the Opinion is enclosed as Appendix A.

The Opinion reversed *Futurewise v. Franklin County, City* of Pasco, and Port of Pasco, Growth Management Hearings Board Eastern Washington Region Case No. 21-1-0005, Final Decision and Order (Jan. 28, 2022), hereinafter FDO. A copy of the FDO is enclosed as Appendix B.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. May a County rely on an after-the-fact interpretation of a comprehensive plan to de-designate agricultural lands of long-term commercial significance (ALLTCS)?

2. Did the Opinion follow the correct legal principles for interpreting comprehensive plans?

3. Does the Opinion opinion's reliance on an after-the-fact County interpretation of the comprehensive plan rather than the plain language comply with the legal principles for interpreting comprehensive plans?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Franklin County's 2008 comprehensive plan designated the "Franklin Crops" as one of four categories of agricultural lands of long-term commercial significance (ALLTCS) on Map 8 – Agriculture Lands.¹ The 2008 comprehensive plan provided:

¹ Supplement to the Certified Administrative Record (SCR) 001437-38, SCR 001441, Franklin County Growth Management Comprehensive Plan pp. 92-93, p. 96 (Adopted Feb. 27, 2008) hereinafter 2008 comprehensive plan.

In Franklin County agricultural lands of long-term commercial significance are soil classification 1 – 3 according to the Land Capability Classification of the USDA Soil Conservation service. Further, the County's Prime, Unique and of State and Local Significance soils as generally shown and mapped by the Franklin Conservation District on Map 8, are also described as agricultural lands of longterm commercial significance in Franklin County.²

The four categories of ALLTCS shown on Map 8 were the "Franklin Crops," "Prime Irrigate Lands," "Prime Dryland," and "Fields with Quincy Soils."³ All four of the ALLTCS categories along with other areas were designated as "Agricultural" on Map 2 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan.⁴ And the four ALLTCS categories were not included in the Rural land use designations.⁵ Franklin County's 2018-2038 comprehensive plan failed to include 'Franklin Crops' "as ALLTCS and failed to apply de-designation criteria identified

² SCR 001438, 2008 Comprehensive Plan p. 93.

³ SCR 001441, 2008 comprehensive plan p. 96.

⁴ SCR 001384, 2008 comprehensive plan p. 39; SCR 001343,

²⁰⁰⁸ comprehensive plan p. *iii.

⁵ SCR 001420-33, 2008 comprehensive plan pp. 75-88.

by the Board and Washington courts."⁶ Franklin County failed to disclose and analyze the environmental impact of dedesignating the Franklin Crops in the State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA) Checklist.⁷ Neither did the Pasco Draft or Final Environmental Impact Statements (EISs).⁸

The 2018-2038 comprehensive plan expanded the Pasco urban growth area (UGA) by approximately 3,407 acres.⁹ The northwestern part of the UGA expansion was mostly designated as ALLTCS with small areas of Rural land in the 2008

⁶ Certified Administrative Record (CR) 001137, *Futurewise v. Franklin County, City of Pasco, and Port of Pasco*, Growth Management Hearings Board Eastern Washington Region (GMHBEWR) Case No. 21-1-0005, Final Decision and Order (Jan. 28, 2022), at 19 of 23 hereinafter FDO enclosed in Appendix A.

⁷ CR 000656.

⁸ SCR 001597, SCR 001600, SCR 001634, SCR 001672-74, SCR 001685-86. The differences between the Draft and Final EIS are shown in revision marks on the Final EIS. SCR 001558.
⁹ CR 000460, Comprehensive Plan 2018-2038 Franklin County, Washington p. 27 (adopted June 2021 Ord. 07-2021) hereinafter 2018-2038 comprehensive plan; CR 000625; SCR 001384, 2008 comprehensive plan p. 39.

comprehensive plan.¹⁰ Most of the land included in the UGA expansion was designated by Franklin County as Franklin Crops, shown on the map in Appendix C.¹¹ Rural comprehensive plan designations adjacent to the 2008 comprehensive plan UGA and the 2018-2038 comprehensive plan UGA expansion were excluded from the expansion even though ALLTCS was included.¹²

In the northwest UGA expansion area, 2,491.9 acres, 94.4 percent, are land capability classification 1 through 3 soils.¹³ Prime farmland in the northwest UGA expansion areas totaled 575 acres or 21.8 percent.¹⁴ Another 1,712.4 acres, 64.9 percent, are farmland of statewide importance soils.¹⁵ So prime

¹⁰ SCR 001441, 2008 comprehensive plan p. 96; SCR 001384, 2008 comprehensive plan p. 39; SCR 002522; CR 001074.
¹¹ SCR 001441, 2008 comprehensive plan p. 96; CR 001074

⁽included as Appendix C.)

¹² SCR 001384, 2008 comprehensive plan p. 39; SCR 002522; CR 001074.

¹³ CR 000421; CR 000901-22.

¹⁴ CR 000421; CR 000901-22.

¹⁵ CR 000421; CR 000901-22.

farmland and farmland of statewide importance soils total 2,287.4 acres, 86.7 percent of the northwest UGA expansion.¹⁶ Many soils have both Land Capability Classifications 1 through 3 and Prime Farmland or Farmland of Statewide Importance.¹⁷

Franklin County expanded its UGA without de-designating the "Franklin Crops" or analyzing the environmental impacts of converting the ALLTCS to urban uses.¹⁸ Futurewise timely appealed the UGA expansion and the County's SEPA compliance.¹⁹ Futurewise prevailed on these issues before the Board.²⁰ Franklin County and the City of Pasco appealed the Board's FDO.

The Court of Appeals decided to follow the County's interpretation of the comprehensive plan that the Franklin Crops shown on Map 8 are not agricultural lands of long-term

¹⁶ CR 000421; CR 000901-22.

¹⁷ CR 000421; CR 000901-22.

¹⁸ CR 001137, FDO, at 19 of 23.

¹⁹ CR 001120, FDO, at 2 of 23.

²⁰ CR 001122-28, 001134-38, FDO, at 4-10, 16-20 of 23.

commercial significance.²¹ So, the Court of Appeals reversed the Board.²²

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

- A. Issue 1: May a County rely on an after-the-fact interpretation of a comprehensive plan to de-designate agricultural lands of long-term commercial significance (ALLTCS)?
 - 1. The Growth Management Act (GMA) requires the designation and conservation of agricultural lands and ALLTCS must be de-designated by showing they fail to comply with the GMA requirements for designating ALLTCS.

The GMA's "[n]atural resource industries" goal provides

"[m]aintain and enhance natural resource-based industries,

including productive timber, agricultural, and fisheries

industries. Encourage the conservation of productive

forestlands and productive agricultural lands, and discourage

incompatible uses."²³ The GMA goals were "adopted to guide

 ²¹ Franklin Cnty. v. Futurewise, Case No. 38907-3-III Slip Op. at 37 (Wash. Ct. App. Div. III July 13, 2023) including in Appendix A and hereinafter Opinion.
 ²² Id. at 38-39.

²³ RCW 36.70A.020(8).

the development and adoption of comprehensive plans and

development regulations of those counties and cities that are

required or choose to plan under RCW 16 36.70A.040"24

"The purpose is to 'assure the conservation' of these lands.

RCW 36.70A.060(1)."25

This Court held that counties

must designate "[a]gricultural lands that are not already characterized by urban growth and that have long-term significance for the commercial production of food or other agricultural products." RCW 36.70A.170(1)(a). In addition, the county must adopt development regulations "to assure the conservation of" those agricultural lands designated under RCW 36.70A.170. RCW 36.70A.060(1).²⁶

²⁴ RCW 36.70A.020; *King Cnty. v. Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd. (Soccer Fields)*, 142 Wn.2d 543, 556, 14 P.3d 133, 140 (2000).

 ²⁵ City of Redmond v. Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 136 Wn.2d 38, 47, 959 P.2d 1091, 1094 (1998).
 ²⁶ Lewis Cnty. v. W. Washington Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 157 Wn.2d 488, 498–99, 139 P.3d 1096, 1101 (2006).

This Court also held that counties are "required to designate

agricultural lands of long-term commercial significance."27

This Court explained that the:

GMA required municipalities to designate agricultural lands for preservation even before those municipalities were obliged to declare their UGAs and adopt comprehensive plans in compliance with GMA. The "designation and interim protection of such areas [are] the first formal step in growth management implementation ... to preclude urban growth area status for areas unsuited to urban development." [Richard L. Settle & Charles G. Gavigan, The Growth Management Revolution in Washington: Past, Present, and Future, 16 U. PUGET SOUND L. REV. 867, 907 (1993).] Also, requiring designation of natural resource lands at the outset of the GMA planning process prevents the irreversible loss of those lands to development, and preserves land management options until completion of the comprehensive planning process.²⁸

²⁷ Soccer Fields, 142 Wn.2d at 556, 14 P.3d at 140.

²⁸ City of Redmond v. Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt.

Hearings Bd., 136 Wn.2d 38, 48, 959 P.2d 1091, 1095 (1998).

This Court's *Soccer Fields* decision held that "[w]hen read together, RCW 36.70A.020(8), .060(1), and .170 evidence a legislative mandate for the conservation of agricultural land."²⁹

The Court of Appeals has concluded that the courts "evaluate whether a dedesignation of agricultural land was clearly erroneous by determining whether the property in question continues to meet the GMA definition of 'agricultural land' as defined in *Lewis County*."³⁰ The State of Washington Department of Commerce has adopted minimum guidelines for the de-designation agricultural lands of long-term commercial significance.³¹

²⁹ Soccer Fields, 142 Wn.2d at 562, 14 P.3d at 143.

³⁰ Clark Cnty. Washington v. W. Washington Growth Mgmt. Hearings Rev. Bd., 161 Wn. App. 204, 234, 254 P.3d 862, 875-76 (2011), vacated in part Clark Cnty. v. W. Washington Growth Mgmt. Hearings Rev. Bd., 177 Wn. 2d 136, 298 P.3d
704 (2013), this part of the opinion was not vacated. Accord Yakima Cnty. v. E. Washington Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 146 Wn. App. 679, 688, 192 P.3d 12, 16 (2008). The reference to Lewis County is to Lewis Cnty. v. W. Washington Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 157 Wn.2d 488, 502, 139 P.3d 1096, 1103 (2006).

³¹ WAC 365-190-040(10); WAC 365-190-050(1).

2. The plain language of the 2008 comprehensive plan shows the Franklin Crops are ALLTCS.

The GMA requires comprehensive plans for fully planning counties to include three categories of land use designations: Urban growth areas, natural resource lands, and rural lands.³² Agricultural lands of long-term commercial significance (ALLTCS) are one of the three types of natural resource lands.³³ County and city comprehensive plans that have ALLTCS are required to designate them, typically on a map or maps.³⁴

The 2008 comprehensive plan designated the ALLTCS on Map 8 – Agriculture Lands.³⁵ Map 8 – Agriculture Lands is in the Resource Lands chapter, not the Rural Lands chapter.³⁶

³² RCW 36.70A.110; RCW 36.70A.170(1)(a)-(c); RCW 36.70A.070(5).

³³ RCW 36.70A.170(1)(a).

³⁴ RCW 36.70A.170(1)(a); *Lewis Cnty. v. W. Washington Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd.*, 157 Wn.2d 488, 503, 139 P.3d 1096, 1103 (2006).

³⁵ SCR 001343, SCR 001438, SCR 001441, 2008 comprehensive plan p. iii, p. 93, p. 96.

³⁶ SCR 001441, 2008 comprehensive plan p. 96.

The Resource Lands chapter of the 2008 comprehensive plan provides that the "County's Prime, Unique and of State and Local Significance soils as generally shown and mapped by the Franklin Conservation District on Map 8, are also described as agricultural lands of long-term commercial significance in Franklin County."³⁷ Map 8 includes four categories of ALLTCS: "Franklin Crops," "Prime Irrigate Lands," "Prime Dryland," and "Fields with Quincy Soils."³⁸ They are ALLTCS because they are included on Map 8 – Agriculture Lands and the Resource Lands Chapter says they are ALLTCS.³⁹ Further evidence they are ALLTCS is that they are not designated as "Urban Growth Boundaries" or "Rural Lands" either on Map 8 - Agriculture Lands or Map 2 - Comprehensive Land Use Plan.⁴⁰ They are designated as "Agricultural" on Map 2 –

³⁷ SCR 001438, 2008 comprehensive plan p. 93.

³⁸ SCR 001441, 2008 comprehensive plan p. 96.

³⁹ SCR 001441, *Id.*; SCR 001438, 2008 comprehensive plan p. 93.

⁴⁰ SCR 001441, *Id*.; SCR 001384, 2008 comprehensive plan p. 39.

Comprehensive Land Use Plan, also referred to as the Land Use Map.⁴¹

The 2008 comprehensive plan provides that "Urban Growth Boundaries" do not include ALLTCS, agriculture is a transitional use in urban growth boundaries, not a long-term use.⁴² Similarly, Rural areas also do not have ALLTCS.⁴³

The "Franklin Crops," "Prime Irrigate Lands," "Prime Dryland," and "Fields with Quincy Soils" are included on Map 8 – Agriculture Lands and are designated as "Agricultural" on Map 2 – "Comprehensive Land Use Plan."⁴⁴ But they are not included in the urban or rural land use designations.⁴⁵

⁴¹ SCR 001384, 2008 comprehensive plan p. 39; SCR 001343, 2008 comprehensive plan p. *iii.

⁴² SCR 001395, 2008 comprehensive plan p. 39; SCR 001343, 2008 comprehensive plan p. *50.

⁴³ SCR 001418, 2008 comprehensive plan p. 73.

⁴⁴ SCR 001441, 2008 comprehensive plan p. 96.

⁴⁵ SCR 001420-33, 2008 comprehensive plan pp. 75-88.

3. Having designated the Franklin Crops as ALLTCS in the 2008 comprehensive plan, can Franklin County de-designate them through a staff interpretation rather than the de-designation process?

In the *Soccer Fields* decision, this Court held that "[a]fter properly designating agricultural lands in the [Agricultural Projection District] APD, the County may not then undermine the Act's agricultural conservation mandate by adopting 'innovative' amendments that allow the conversion of entire parcels of prime agricultural soils to an unrelated use."⁴⁶ This case raises a similar issue of substantial public interest. After having designated the Franklin Crops or any category of farmland as ALLTCS in 2008 comprehensive plan,⁴⁷ can a County de-designate the ALLTCS not by going through the dedesignation process but through an after-the-fact staff interpretation and allow nonagricultural uses on those lands?

⁴⁶ Soccer Fields, 142 Wn.2d at 561, 14 P.3d at 143.

⁴⁷ SCR 001343, SCR 001438, SCR 001441, 2008 comprehensive plan p. iii, p. 93, p. 96.

The Opinion relies on the County's after-the-fact interpretation of the comprehensive plan to hold that the Franklin Crops were not designated as agricultural lands of long-term commercial significance despite the fact that they were mapped as ALLTCS.⁴⁸ In the northwest UGA expansion area, 2,491.9 acres (94.4 percent) are land capability classification 1 through 3 soils which the 2008 comprehensive plan identified as ALLTCS.⁴⁹

If ALLTCS can be de-designated in this way, the GMA's legislative mandate for the conservation of agricultural land" enunciated by this Court will fail throughout the state.⁵⁰ A county could just come up with a staff interpretation for any land the county or city wants to de-designate. This is an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the

⁴⁸ SCR 001343, SCR 001438, SCR 001441, 2008
comprehensive plan p. iii, p. 93, p. 96; Opinion at 28-30, 37-28.
⁴⁹ CR 000421; CR 000901-22; SCR 001438, 2008
comprehensive plan p. 93.
⁵⁰ Soccer Fields, 142 Wn.2d at 562, 14 P.3d at 143.

State Supreme Court. This Court should grant review under Rule of Appellate Procedure (RAP) 13.4(b)(4).

B. Issue 2: Did the Opinion follow the correct legal principles for interpreting comprehensive plans?

Comprehensive plans and development regulations "must comply with the GMA."⁵¹ This Court has described comprehensive plans as "guides" or "blueprints" "to be used in making land use decisions."⁵²

The state legislature and governor has made clear that these blueprints, comprehensive plans, are important to guide the future of Washington State and to achieve important state goals. This is shown by recent amendments to the GMA. In 2021, the legislature and governor strengthened the GMA housing goal and the requirements for planning for housing including identifying sufficient land for housing for all income groups

⁵¹ Woods v. Kittitas Cnty., 162 Wn.2d 597, 613, 174 P.3d 25, 33 (2007).
⁵² Id.

and affordable housing.⁵³ In 2023, the legislature and governor adopted a new climate change and resiliency goal and requirements to reduce greenhouse gas pollution and to increase resiliency in the face of ongoing climate change.⁵⁴ Also in 2023, the legislature and governor adopted the "middle housing" bill requiring cities with a population of at least 25,000 that fully plan under the GMA to allow the development of at least two housing units per lot on most lots zoned predominantly for residential use.⁵⁵ More housing units are required in certain locations and for cities with larger populations.⁵⁶

In addition to adopting new and amended goals and requirements, the state legislature and governor providing

⁵³ Laws of 2021, ch. 254 § 1(4) amending RCW 36.70A.020(4); Laws of 2021, ch. 254 § 2 amending RCW 36.70A.070(2).
⁵⁴ Laws of 2023, ch. 228 § 1(14) adopting RCW 36.70A.020(14); Laws of 2023, ch. 228 § 3(3) amending RCW 36.70A.070; Laws of 2023, ch. 228 §§ 4-18.
⁵⁵ Laws of 2023, ch. 332 § 3.
⁵⁶ Id.

funding to state and counties and cities to update comprehensive plans and development regulations to comply with the GMA and to incorporate these new laws. This includes \$20 million in grants to update and implement comprehensive plans and development regulations in fiscal years 2024 and 2025.⁵⁷ Over \$43.8 million has be appropriated to implement the new climate change planning requirements adopted by Laws of 2023, ch. 228, referred to as Second Substitute House Bill No. 1181 in the operating budget.⁵⁸

These goals, requirements, and funding will only produce on the ground improvements in land use decisions if the legal rules for interpretating comprehensive plans are clear. As the recent GMA amendments have shown, how comprehensive plans are interpreted is important. This Court has enunciated clear and

⁵⁷ Laws of 2023, ch. 475 § 130(9) last accessed on Aug. 9, 2023, at: <u>https://lawfilesext.leg.wa.gov/biennium/2023-24/Pdf/Bills/Session%20Laws/Senate/5187-S.SL.pdf?q=20230809111038.</u>
⁵⁸ Laws of 2023, ch. 475 § 126(24), § 130(21), § 222(87), §

^{302(29), § 308(39), § 310(26).}

helpful principles for interpreting county and city ordinances, holding the same principles for interpreting statutes apply these ordinances.⁵⁹ But there is only limited guidance on how comprehensive plans are to be interpreted.

In the *Lakeside Industries* decision the court of appeals applied a rule of statutory construction to interpret a subarea plan and development regulations.⁶⁰ The GMA provides that subarea plans are to be included in the comprehensive plan.⁶¹ Comprehensive plans are approved by the governing body of a county or city.⁶² The *Lakeside Industries* decision shows that the rules of statutory construction can be successfully used to interpret comprehensive plans.

⁵⁹ Whatcom Cnty. Fire Dist. No. 21 v. Whatcom Cnty., 171 Wn.2d 421, 433, 256 P.3d 295, 300 (2011) citing City of Spokane v. Fischer, 110 Wn.2d 541, 542, 754 P.2d 1241 (1988) and City of Puyallup v. Pac. Nw. Bell Tel. Co., 98 Wn.2d 443, 448, 656 P.2d 1035 (1982).

⁶⁰ Lakeside Indus. v. Thurston Cnty., 119 Wn. App. 886, 896–97, 83 P.3d 433, 438 (2004), as amended (Feb. 24, 2004) review denied 152 Wn.2d 1015, 101 P.3d 107 (2004).
⁶¹ RCW 36.70A.080(2).

⁶² RCW 36.70A.030(6) (2023).

This case provides this Court with an opportunity to decide an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4): The principles for interpreting comprehensive plans. The recent amendments to the GMA and the substantial funding for updating comprehensive plans show that comprehensive plans are important. Their proper interpretation is an issue of substantial public interest to ensure that the GMA is properly implemented and the state funding is well spent.

The Opinion in this case agreed that the comprehensive plans should be interpreted using the rules of statutory construction.⁶³ But the Opinion misapplied these rules and mixed in inapplicable contract principles as will be explained in Issue 3 below.

⁶³ Opinion at 27-29.

C. Issue 3: Does the Opinion's reliance on an after-the-fact County interpretation of the comprehensive plan rather than the plain language comply with the legal principles for interpreting comprehensive plans?

1. The plain language of the 2008 comprehensive plan shows the Franklin Crops are ALLTCS.

While the Opinion agreed the 2008 comprehensive plan should be interpreted based on the rules of statutory construction, the Opinion relies on the County's after-the-fact interpretation of the comprehensive plan.⁶⁴ The Opinion recognized that there were no disputed issues of fact, only a dispute over the legal meaning of the comprehensive plan.⁶⁵

The Court described the County's interpretation:

On the con side [that the Franklin Crops are not ALLTCS], the Franklin County planning director declared, on November 17, 2020 at a county planning workshop, that the proposed Pasco UGA did not include any ALLTCS. In a report prepared for the Franklin County Board of County Commissioners, county planning staff wrote that the UGA expansion included no acres earlier designated as ALLTCS. The County stated this position before any dispute arose with Futurewise.

⁶⁴ Opinion at 27-30, 37.

⁶⁵ Opinion at 37.

The report assumed that the 2008 plan did not designate Franklin Crops as ALLTCS. On the pro side, neither the planning director nor the planning staff revealed any analysis behind the conclusion nor specifically declared that Franklin Crops had not been designated as ALLTCS. The planning staff's position came a decade after the adoption of the 2008 comprehensive plan. The County presented no evidence that the 2020 planning director or planning staff played any role in the preparation of the 2008 plan.⁶⁶

The Opinion apparently based the consideration of the afterthe-fact interpretation on two contract cases: *Scott Galvanizing, Inc.* and *Hansen v. Transworld Wireless TV-Spokane, Inc.*⁶⁷ But comprehensive plans are not contracts. And later the Opinion rejected the application of contract principles in part of its analysis was to why the Opinion should not grant deference to the Board's findings of fact.⁶⁸

⁶⁶ Opinion at 30.

⁶⁷ Opinion at 28-29; Scott Galvanizing, Inc. v. Nw.
EnviroServices, Inc., 120 Wn.2d 573, 580-81, 844 P.2d 428, 432 (1993); Hansen v. Transworld Wireless TV-Spokane, Inc., 111 Wn. App. 361, 375, 44 P.3d 929, 937 (2002).
⁶⁸ Opinion at 36-37.

The Opinion stated that "the Franklin County planning director declared, on November 17, 2020 ... that the proposed Pasco UGA did not include any ALLTCS."⁶⁹ The Opinion stated the "County stated this position before any dispute arose with Futurewise."⁷⁰ But that was not the case. Futurewise had argued before November 2020, that the UGA expansion included ALLTCS.⁷¹ Indeed, even under the County's limited interpretation of what is ALLTCS, the County later found some of the land in the UGA expansion was ALLTCS and later excluded those lands.⁷²

Perhaps more importantly, the Opinion's interpretation is contrary to the plain language of the comprehensive plan. The rules of statutory construction would derive the plain meaning of Franklin County's 2008 and 2018-2038 comprehensive plans

⁶⁹ Opinion at 30.

⁷⁰ Opinion at 30.

 ⁷¹ SCR 002304, Summary of Futurewise 5/19/2020 letter; SCR 002322, Summary of Futurewise 6/17/2020 letter.
 ⁷² CR 000009.

from what the County legislative body said in the comprehensive plan and related legislation "which disclose legislative intent about the provision in question."⁷³ It would not derive the plain meaning from staff statements made ten years after the 2008 comprehensive plan was adopted.⁷⁴

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