# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/13/2023 8:40 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

#### Supreme Court Case No. 1022662 Court of Appeals Case No. 38907-3-III

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### FRANKLIN COUNTY,

Appellant,

VS.

FUTUREWISE,

Respondent,

And

CITY OF PASCO, and PORT OF PASCO,

Appellants.

## CITY OF PASCO'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Kenneth W. Harper, WSBA #25578

Menke Jackson Beyer, LLP

807 North 39<sup>th</sup> Avenue

Yakima, WA 98902

(509) 575-0313, Email: kharper@mjbe.com

Attorneys for Appellant City of Pasco

####

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

#### IV. REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

# A. Interpretation of the 2008 Franklin County comprehensive plan is not an issue of substantial public interest.

In the case below, there was no dispute over any provision of the GMA. Op. at 26. Instead, the only question before the Court of Appeals was "whether a map labeled as 'Agricultural Lands' and identified as Map 8 in Franklin County's 2008 comprehensive plan designated land labeled as 'Franklin Crops' for protection as agricultural land of long-term commercial significance (ALLTCS)." *Id.* at 1. The Court of Appeals answered this question in the negative, finding that the County did not designate Franklin Crops as ALLTCS in 2008 and therefore the removal of the reference to Franklin Crops in the County's 2018 comprehensive plan did not violate the GMA or SEPA. *Id.* at 38.

Futurewise's claim of substantial public interest can only gain traction by first showing that an exceedingly narrow question of interpreting an ambiguous comprehensive plan was

in error. And on that question—how to interpret a particular map and related text of a particular county's comprehensive plan—Futurewise has no persuasive claim of substantial public interest.

Futurewise tries to bolster this weakness in its case by exaggerating the reasoning of the Court of Appeals to portray the court as making a decision with far-reaching effect. For instance, Futurewise argues that the court was wrongly influenced by a County "staff interpretation" process. Pet. at 14-16. But in its decision, the Court of Appeals gave the statement of Franklin County's planning director only passing treatment, and appropriately pointed out that the planning director's conclusion was unsupported by any analysis and "came a decade after the adoption of the 2008 comprehensive plan." Op. at 30. The court was hardly beguiled by the planning director's position, and the decision below devotes little more than a paragraph, pro and con, to that entire matter. Id.

In its petition, Futurewise ignores the Court of Appeals' decision that Franklin Crops were simply not designated as ALLTCS at all. But on close examination, if Futurewise is wrong on its initial premise regarding Franklin Crops—a subject that, to reiterate, is not a matter of great public interest—then the rest of its claims under RAP 13.4(b)(4) also fail.

Put differently, there could only be a legitimate concern of the specter of an "after-the-fact interpretation...overrid[ing] the plain language of the comprehensive plan" if one grants that the language of the comprehensive plan was overridden. Pet. at 30. Likewise, the Futurewise claim of an issue of substantial public interest arising from opportunistic de-designations of ALLTCS by staff memoranda rather than the formal dedesignation process is meritless if there was no de-designation because Franklin Crops were not ALLTCS in the first place. *Id.* at 14. Here, the Court of Appeals treated the planning director's views as nothing more than one of many arguments

that the parties presented and upon which the court commented.

Op. at 30.

Futurewise exaggerates—and nearly misrepresents the record below—in claiming that Franklin Crops "were mapped as ALLTCS." Pet. at 15. More accurately, the Court of Appeals recognized that "[m]ap 8's legend listed *Franklin Crops* as one of the categories of land outlined on the map," but whether or not this was the same as identifying that Franklin Crops were ALLTCS was the entire issue in dispute. If matters were as simplistic as Futurewise portrays in its petition for review, one wonders why the Court of Appeals would need a 39-page opinion to decide the matter.

Rather than show this Court a strong public interest justification for review of such a narrow issue, Futurewise restates its merits arguments that Franklin Crops were designated as ALLTCS. Futurewise's petition one-sidedly plows through exactly the points of analysis discussed in the decision below. But this only shows that arguments pro and

con could be mustered on both sides of the issue. The Court of Appeals' conclusion, after considering all sources of meaning, was that "[m]any of the provisions of the plan support exclusion of *Franklin Crops* from ALLTCS protection" and that the County's interpretation was reasonable. Op. at 37. This does not rise to the level of an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

B. The Court of Appeals applied ordinary principles of statutory construction to interpreting Franklin County's 2008 comprehensive plan.

Futurewise claims that the underlying decision requires review because the Court of Appeals misapplied the appropriate standards for interpreting a comprehensive plan. Pet. at 16-20. This argument stems from the premise that the court wrongly construed the comprehensive plan like a contract rather than a legislative enactment, relying on *Lakeside Indus. v. Thurston Cnty.*, 119 Wn. App. 886, 83 P.3d 433 (2004), as amended (Feb. 24, 2004), *review denied* 152 Wn.2d 1015, 101 P.3d 107 (2004).

But as Futurewise admits in the very next section of its brief, the Court of Appeals did in fact apply principles of statutory construction to the 2008 comprehensive plan. Pet. at 20-21. After raising this claim, Futurewise discredits its own argument with the acknowledgement that "later the Opinion rejected the application of contract principles...." Id. at 22. Put succinctly, the Court of Appeals did exactly what Futurewise asks this Court to do—determine whether Franklin Crops were designated as ALLTCS under the County's 2008 comprehensive plan as a matter of discerning and carrying out the intent and purpose of the local legislative body. Op. at 27. This is re-litigation of the merits, not an argument under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Futurewise's attempt to pit rules of contract interpretation against rules of statutory interpretation is only a red herring.

The Court of Appeals did not stake the outcome of this case on either view, nor is it clear how any difference in the law of construing ambiguous texts of either type would matter.

Futurewise's argument on the principles of statutory construction proves to be nothing more than a springboard for it to re-litigate its arguments below.

Futurewise believes that the plain language of the 2008 comprehensive plan designated Franklin Crops as ALLTCS.

Pet. at 23-28. Fair enough. But in its petition for review

Futurewise spends almost all of its pages simply reasserting its

"plain language" argument in different guises. The Court of

Appeals gave full consideration to each of these theories. The

bottom line after evaluating the nuances on both sides of the

issue was that Futurewise did not prevail. But this did not

depend on a matter of contract law interpretation as opposed to

statutory or comprehensive plan interpretation.

The Court of Appeals disagreed with Futurewise because, after thoroughly considering the text and maps of the plan, the court found that they lacked clarity. Op. at 28. The Court of Appeals' consideration and rejection of Futurewise's

interpretation of the plan does not implicate a matter of substantial public interest.

As the Court of Appeals noted, the County's 2008 comprehensive plan is susceptible to multiple reasonable interpretations. So long as the County's interpretation of its own comprehensive plan is reasonable, it was entitled to some degree of deference. *Phoenix Dev., Inc. v. City of Woodinville*, 171 Wn.2d 820, 830, 256 P.3d 1150 (2011); *Hama Hama Co. v. Shoreline Hearings Bd.*, 85 Wn.2d 441, 448, 536 P.2d 157 (1975); *King Cnty. v. Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd.*, 91 Wn. App. 1, 12, 951 P.2d 1151 (1998), *rev'd in part on other grounds, King Cnty. v. Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd.*, 138 Wn.2d 161 (1999).

Futurewise seeks to cast doubt on the court's application of the standard of review by noting that the decision below cited only the court of appeals' decision in *King County*. Pet. at 29. But in the very next paragraph, the court stated that deference was due only because the County's interpretation was

reasonable. Op. at 28. This view is perfectly consistent with this Court's precedent and is largely compelled by the GMA itself. See RCW 36.70A.320 and .3201 (mandating more deferential standard of review to county or city planning actions). All of this was discussed in detail in *Quadrant Corp*. v. Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 154 Wn.2d 224, 238, 110 P.3d 1132 (2005) ("In the face of this clear legislative directive, we now hold that deference to county planning actions, that are consistent with the requirements of the GMA, supersedes deference granted to the APA and courts to administrative bodies in general."). Here, the court correctly cited *Quadrant* for the proposition that deference to county GMA actions overrides deference that otherwise would be granted to administrative agencies. Op. at 24. There was no error.

Notably, Futurewise apparently does not wish to engage with this precedent anyway, since it does not seek review on the basis of a conflict with other appellate decisions under RAP

13.4(b)(1) and (2) (decision below conflicts with decision of Supreme Court or published decision of the Court of Appeals).

The Court of Appeals conducted a thorough analysis of all arguments below before determining that the County's interpretation that Franklin Crops were not ALLTCS was reasonable. It necessarily followed that the County did not improperly de-designate ALLTCS in its 2018 comprehensive plan. Op. at 29-39.

Futurewise's argument is rendered hollow because

Futurewise also sought to use extrinsic information from 2019

to support its own interpretation of the County's 2008

comprehensive plan. CP 872-923; Op. at 34; Pet. at 5-6. The

City does not claim that this was improper. The City mentions
this to show the Court that the Court of Appeals considered all
the points raised by Futurewise in its search for the appropriate
meaning of Franklin Crops.

#### V. CONCLUSION

Futurewise disagrees with the outcome before the Court of Appeals and seeks to re-litigate the merits of a case regarding a specific and narrow issue on which it was fully heard. This does not rise to the level of an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Because Futurewise's petition meets none of this Court's criteria for granting review, the City respectfully requests that it be denied.

I, KENNETH W. HARPER, do hereby certify that the foregoing filing contains 2,434 words, in compliance with RAP 18.17.